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The Board is responsible for the external audit of the accounts of the General Secretariat
pursuant to the General Assembly Resolution 123 adopted on April 14, 1973, and Permanent
Council Resolution 124 dated June 30, 1975. It began to function in March 1976, and adopted
detailed rules and procedures to carry out its duties and responsibilities. These rules reflect the
standards and requirements prescribed by the General Assembly and the Permanent Council for
the external audit of the QAS.

The Board is composed of three members elected by the General Assembly.
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April 26, 1996

To the Permanent Council of the
ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

The Board of External Auditors is pleased to present its annual report on the external audit
of the accounts and financial statements of the ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES {OAS)

in accordance with Articie 114 of the General Standards to govern the operations of the General

Sacretariat. Our report covers the biennium ended December 31, 1995, and includes:

Comments and recommendations by the Board for improving the OAS’ operating
procedures and internal accounting controls;

Audit of the accounts and financial statements of major OAS funds:
Regular Fund
Special Development Assistance Fund
Special Multilateral Fund for Education, Science,
and Culture
Special Account for Culture
Mar del Plata Account

Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund
and the Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund;

Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Inter-American Defense
Board;

Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the international Commission of
Support and Verification (CIAV Il};

Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Unit for the Promotion of
Democracy (OAS/DEMQC); and

Audit of the accounts and financial statements of the Retirement and Pension
Fund.



The Board’s annual report is based primarily on the independent audit by Ernst & Young
performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. The Board reviewed and
discussed the audit work and reiated work papers with representatives of the firm. In preparing
its report, the Board has also considered the reports of the General Secretariat’s inspector General

and discussions with management officials.

The financial statements included in this report represent the financial activity for the
biennium ended December 31, 1995, on a comparative basis with the previous biennium. (See
Note 3 to the financial statements). Except as described in the following paragraph, the
statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting practices prescribed by the
Budgetary and Financial Rules of the General Secretariat which require the measurement of
financial position and operating results in terms of historical cost without regard to changesin the

purchasing power of money over time.

Ernst & Young’s opinion as it pertains to the financial statements for the biennium ended
December 31, 1993 is qualified because of the recording of certain obligations and related
interfund income in 1991, as discussed in Note 7 to the financial statements. These obligations
departed from the criteria set forth in the General Standards to govern the operations of the
General Secretariat and the Budgetary and Financial Rules in that they did not represent firm

commitments as prescribed by such rules.

Based on the opinions rendered by Ernst & Young on funds audited, the Board certifies in
accordance with Article 109 of the General Standards to govern the operations of the General

Secretariat that:

- The financial statements of all funds audited agree with the books, records,
documents, and vouchers of the General Secretariat.

-- The securities and cash on deposit have been checked by means of certification
from depositories of the General Secretariat and the cash on hand has been
checked by actually counting it as deemed appropriate by the Board in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards.

We have included as Appendix A of Section | Ernst & Young’s opinion on compliance with

the General Standards to govern the operations of the General Secretariat. In addition, our report



contains a number of recommendations designed to improve OAS’ operating procedures and

internal accounting controls both at Headquarters and at the Offices in the member states.

During 19985, Article 108 of the General Standards, provided:

"The Board shall submit its report to the Permanent Council and the
General Secretariat within the first semester of every year. The
Permanent Council shall make the observations it deems necessary.
Bearing in mind such observations, within sixty days of receiving them,
the General Secretariat shall submit a report to the Permanent Council on
the measures taken to implement the Board's recommendations.”

The Board’s report for 1994 (CP/doc.2662/95) was referred by the Permanent Council to
its Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Affairs on December 6, 1995.

In June 1995, the General Assembly adopted AG/RES. 1322 (XXV-0/95) which revised
Article 108, renumbered it as Article 114, and provided that:

"The Board shall submit its report to the Permanent Council and the General
Secretariat within the first four months of every year. The report shall include
comments made by the General Secretariat. Additional formal comments will
be provided by the General Secretariat on planned implementing measures with
respect to the recommendations in the report. The Permanent Council shall
make such observations as it deems necessary. The Permanent Council’'s
observations and recommendations on this report and on the comments of the
General Secretariat shall be forwarded to the General Assembly following the
end of the financial period addressed by the report”.

This report is submitted in accordance with Article 114.

At December 31, 1995, the Regular Fund had a positive fund balance of $129,000
representing a decrease of approximately $14.1 million from the December 31, 1994 balance of
about $14.2 million. The decline in Fund Balance was primarily due to decreased quota
collections during 1995. Quota collections in the Regular Fund during 1995 totaled approximately
$58 million as compared to approximately $65 million during 1994. During 19985, QOAS collected
$21.4 less than assessed. The Board wishes to point out, that although the OAS received about
$19.6 million of the §51.5 million arrearages, current claims for various activities, principally

building renovations, continue to exceed the available balance of the Regular Fund.



The Members of the Board wish to express their appreciation for the cooperation of the
Generai Secretariat in facilitating the audit work and to the General Assembly and Permanent

Council for the opportunity to assist in evaluating the financial operations of the OAS.

=

Brian P.
Chairman
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CHAPTER 1

COMMENTS RELATING TO THE
GENERAL SECRETARIAT

Issues related to the General Secretariat have been grouped into three categories as
follows: (1) issues of continuing concern, (2) new issues, and (3) action on prior issues. Five
issues discussed in last year’'s report related to the General Secretariat continue to be of
concern to the Board. Also, the Board identified two new issues that it wishes to bring to the
attention of the Permanent Council and General Assembly.

ISSUES OF CONTINUING CONCERN

Management Information
System

Review of Policies and
Procedures

In past reports, the Board has stated that the
information systems and software programs used by
the Organization were out of date and recommended that
the Organization’s management information systems
capabilities be upgraded. The Board wishes fo commend
the Organization on completing an indepth analysis of the
management information systems needs and continues to
urge the development and acquisition of state of the art
information systems capable of reducing the current
administrative burden. The Board is also pleased that the
second Datapoint computer and sets of backup tapes
have been relocated to an off-site location.

The Board recommends that the Organization develop
manual or other procedures that can be used in the event
that computer systems are unavailable to ensure that
business continues while system recovery efforts are in
progress. Finally, the Organization should include the
mainframe used by the QOrganization in its contingency
plan and ensure that its applications and date are
incorporated into future recovery testing.

The Organization’s policies and procedures governing
daily operations were developed in the late 1970's and
early 1980's. Previously, the Board had recommended
that the Organization review and revise the policies and
procedures as appropriate to reflect current operating
practices. Manuals pertaining to contracting, investing,
personnel, and field financial operations in particular still
need updating. Although the General Secretariat planned
to complete its review and revise these policies and
procedures during 1995, this has not occurred.



Fixed Assets

Ernst and Young noted that the manual pertaining to field
financial operations was not up to date. Specifically, the
manual’s criteria for obligating funds of the Secretariat did
not reflect the existing policies of the Organization. This
may have contributed to some of the obligations not
supported by firm commitments which Ernst and Young
identified. In addition, the policy for conducting
investment activities needs to be updated.

The Board continues to recommend that the QOrganization
conduct an indepth review of the General Secretariat’s
policies and procedures. In light of the planned personnei
reductions and absences resulting from the utilization of
annual leave awarded under Judgement 124, it is
essential that complete and accurate policies and
procedures be established to ensure employees and
contractors are aware of and comply with these
procedures. The Board recognizes the significant
commitment of resources that would be nseded to
complete this exercise and suggests that the Organization
consider using an outside contractor to complete this
valuable task.

In previous reports, the Board had pointed out that the
Organization had not been taking physical inventories of
fixed assets as required by the Budgetary and Financial
Rules. By hiring an outside firm to perform a physical
inventory and following up onidentified discrepancies, the
Organization made significant progress in establishing an
accurate record of fixed assets at Headquarters.

During 1995, the Department of Material Resources
provided each National Office with a list of the fixed
assets recorded in the inventory listings maintained at
Headquarters. Each office was requested to conduct a
physical inventory, update the listing, and return it to
Headquarters. To date, approximately 50 percent of the
National Offices have not responded to this request.

During 19986, the Department of Material Resources
performed a final inventory of the assets maintained by
the International Civil Mission and Electoral Observation
Mission in Haiti. As a result, the Organization identified
assets totaling about $267,000 which were not on the
fixed assets records. Further, assets valued at about
$210,000 could not be located.



Compliance With Reporting
Requirements

Obligations Not Supporied
Firm Commitments

The Board recommends that the Department of Material
Resources continue to resolve identified discrepancies in
the mission’s fixed asset records. Further, the Board
recommends that the Department of Material Resources
follow-up with the National Offices who have yet to
respond to the inventory request.

Past reports of the Board noted that the Organization had
not consistently met its reporting deadlines as required by
agreements governing specific projects funded by donors.
Although the lack of timely compliance with the various
reporting requirements continued during 1995, progress
was made in that the accounting position with
responsibilities for preparing specific fund financial reports
was filled. However, the staff recently hired for the
position is to transfer to the Office of the Inspector
General on June 15, 1296. The Board recommends that
the Organization make all reasonable efforts to ensure
that required reports are consistently and accurately
prepared and submitted on a timely basis.

Previous reports noted instances where the Organization
recorded obligations that did not appear to be supported
by firm commitments as required by the Budgetary and
Financial Rules. In June 1995, the General Assembly
approved a meoedification to Articie 72 of the General
Standards to specifically require that cobligations be
recorded when the General Secretariat becomes legally
required to expend funds. However, during its audit of
the Organization’s 1995 financial statements, Ernst and
Young again noted immaterialinstances where obligations
were made that were not supported by firm
commitments. Specifically, obligations in certain specific
funds appeared to be created solely based on budgeted
amounts established for specific project activities or
based on telephone conversations.

Other instances were noted where obligations were made
which covered periods of several months. This is
contrary to the requirements in the Budgetary and
Financial rules and the Field Financial Manual which
specify that these estimates should cover one month or
one quarter periods, respectively.



NEW ISSUES

Financiat Condition of
The Regular Fund

Maintaining Adequate
internal Controls

ACTION ON PRIOR ISSUES

Budgetary Execution

The financial position of the Organization’s Regular Fund
deteriorated greatly during 1995. At December 31, 1995
the Regular Fund’s balance was $129,000, a $14.1
million decrease from the 1994 balance. Quota
collections during 1995 were approximately $58 million,
about 11 percent less than 1994 collections which
totaled approximately $65 million. In addition, Regular
Fund arrearages at December 31, 1995 were about $53.6
million, an increase of about $15.5 million. Current
claims for wvarious activities, principally building
renovations, continue to exceed the available balance of
the Regular Fund. The board urges the Organization to
maintain spending levels that reflect the current rate of
quota collections.

Several management offices of the General Secretariat
have experienced personnel reductions and as a result,
are operating with minimum staff. The Board
understands that further personnel reductions and
absences will be experienced as a result of the 1997
budgetary constraints and mandatory utilization of leave
awarded under Administrative Tribunal Judgement 124.
During its audit, Ernst and Young did not identify any
material internal contro! weaknesses. However, both the
Board and Ernst and Young are concerned that the current
internal control environment may be compromised by not
having enough staff to fill key internal control positions,
particularly in the Department of Financial Services.
Strong internal controls are essential to safeguarding
assets and ensuring that the policies and procedures of
the Organization are adhered to. The Board recommends
that the Organization take the necessary actions to
replace staff who separate or are absent from key internal
control positions and that proper segregation of duties
and responsibilities are maintained.

For the past four years, the Board has reported on the
delay in the execution of program budgets of the
Voluntary Funds. In approving its budget for 1996, the
General Assembly precluded the carryover of 1994/1985
appropriations for the Voluntary Funds. At December 31,
1995, $14.4 million in unobligated appropriations for
these funds expired. On January 29, 1996, the General

I-6



Conflict-of-Interest
Statements

Assembly convened in an Extraordinary Session to
consider and provide for disposition of the expired
balance. The General Assembly established a Special
Fund for the Transition to CIDI. This Fund had an
appropriation of $21.6 million which was available for
obligation until March 31, 1996. Approximately $9.8
million was obligated, which must be expended by June
30, 19986.

In past reports, the Board had recommended that
procedures be established for reviewing conflict-of-
interaest statements, whereby employees’ statements
would be reviewed for completeness and substance by
supervisors knowledgeable about the employees’ duties
and responsibilities.

On June 2, 1995, the General Secretariat issued
Administrative Memorandum No. 77 establishing such
procedures. Also, on April 29, 1998, the General
Secretariat issued Executive Order No. 96-3 to spell out
the terms of reference of the Ethics Commitiee.

-7



CHAPTER 2

COMMENTS RELATING TO AUDITS BY THE OFFICE OF
THE INSPECTOR GENERAL

During 1998, the Office of the Inspector General conducted the majority of its reviews
at headquarters. For example, the Office of the Inspector General audited the Art Museum
of the Americas, overtime payments made by the General Secretariat, the computer
equipment and supplies bought through the Department of Material Resources, procedures
used to manage non-expendable property and warehouses, internal controls in the inter-
American Commission on Human Rights, cash receipts at headquarters, and payroll and
personnel systems. During the year, the Office of the Inspector General also conducted audits
in four member states.

AUDITS OF OFFICES OF THE GENERAL SECRETARIAT IN THE MEMBER STATES

In 1895, the Office of the Inspector General conducted audits at Offices of the General
Secretariat in St. Kitts and Nevis, Ecuador, St. Lucia, and Guatemala. Our review of these
reports showed that the same types of control deficiencies identified in the past with regard
to fixed assets continued to occur. Specifically, at the National Offices in St. Lucia and
Guatemala the inventory records were incomplete.

In addition, individual National Office reports noted findings and/or actions needed to
eliminate other problems identified. The following are examples of some of these
findings/actions:

5t. Kitts and Neavis

8 effective centralization and control of the essential functions of the National
Office should be established, and

e communications should be improved between the National Office and
headquarters.
Ecuador
@ the Administrative Official misrepresented the amount of rental increase to

Headquarters in order to gain permission to relocate the office to a building
owned by his brother,

] the Organization paid for, and did not receive, carpet in the new office,

2] payment for the carpet went to a company owned by the Administrative
officiai’s brother,

8 the Administrative Official inappropriately terminated a contract with the

-8



security service and reemployed the security guard through a company owned
by the Administrative Official’s brother,

conflicts of interest were not reported to Headquarters, and

the Administrative Official inappropriately disposed of assets owned by the
Organization.

Upon completion of the audit, the Administrative Official resigned his position.

St. Lucia
®

@

Guatemala
®
®
®
®

@

adequate segregation of duties were not maintained,
excessive monthly telephone expenses were incurred,

attendance activity reports from fellowships were not submitted by students,
and

Annual Statements of Ethics of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest were not
submitted by the director.

inadequate safeguards over blank checks for a closed account,
lack of control over information on grants,

lack of control over tax free forms (reported in a previous audit),
inadequate supporting documentation for some payments, and

tack of a formal contract with the firm that cleans the office.

Because the Inspector General audits continue to find similar problems year after year
in the Offices of the General Secrstariat in the member states, the Board last year
recommended that the Inspector General identify root causes of such problems and
recommend actions to address those underlying causes. This year, the Board reiterates this
recommendation to the Inspector General. By identifying the root causes of common
problems and correcting them, the inspector General will be able to expend his valuable time
and resources in other more productive areas.

AUDITS OF HEADQUARTERS OPERATIONS

As previously mentioned, the Offices of the Inspector General completed several audits
of headquarters operations. The following summarizes the findings of these audits.

-9



Art Museum of the Americas

®

500 works of art on consignment are not insured, arg stored in inadequate
space, and are not recorded in the inventory, and

the museum lacks a proceduras manual.

Overtime Payments

@

2

instances of overtime abuse were identified,

some employees that claimed overtime vacated the office before the end of
their regular shift,

extended absences for personal lsave are not always supported by leave forms,
and

some professional staff members do not adhere to required hours of
attendance.

Procedures and Conirois of Maintenance Contract and Warranties of Equipment and License
Owned by OAS

@

procurement and receipt of computer equipment and software are not
coordinated with the Department of Management Systems and Information
resulting in incorrect equipment databases and inventories, inadequate control
over software licenses, and inaccurate information on equipment
configurations,

the date of acceptance of equipment needs to be carefully established since
warranties begin from this date, and

contracts with two ground maintenance companies were renewed without
competition and the work performed by these companias was not always good.

Cost Related 1o AAC Associates Inc, and a Risk Assessment of the Internet Project

@

2]

AAC Associates Inc.’s performance for the internet project was excellent,

bypassing procurament procedures should be documented when done for
priority projects,

the Crganization needs to reimburse the vendor for allowable costs, and

I-10
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Procedures Used to Manage Non-Expendable Property and Warehouses

the Internet Policy and Rules committee needs to address regulation of
subsystems, security, management, internal controls over information, and
access and use of information gathered.

the Organization has excess property, such as furniture and equipment, which
is no longer serviceable or economically repairable,

this excess property should be removed and purged from the inventory records,

the inventory listing of non-expendable property belonging to projects needs to
be reviewed and culled for completed projects, and

assets dispersed in 17 small warehouses and storage areas should be better
organized and consolidated.

Computer Equipment and Supplies Bought Through the Department Of Material Resources

@

two companies apparently received preferential treatment and were awarded
contracts totaling $632,712 without giving other companies a legitimate
opportunity to compete for these contracts, and

the Organization purchased inferior computer equipment at high prices.

Audit of the Travel Unit, Depariment of Material Resources

&

the method of selecting airlines, travel agencies, and purchasing tickets has
resulted in substantial savings to the Organization,

the Travel Unit is not responsible for arranging all official travel,

Executive Order No. 82-6, which outlines the responsibilities and functions of
the Secretariat for Management, does not include the Travel Services Unit,

Evaluation of the Internal Controls in the Inier-American Commission on Human Rights

&

inadequate safeguarding of documents, facilities, equipment, and personnel was
identified.

Cash Receints at Headouarters

&

@

the date of receipt of income was not recorded,

chack receipts from other offices were not signed,
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@

checks were not endorsed and deposited in the bank in a timely manner, and

receipts and procedures for surrendering cash should be standardized.

Evaluation of the Language Services Unit

®

@

@

additional qualified staff interpreters and translators are needed,
written procedures for most functions are lacking, and

an administrative manager with responsibility for the Language Services and
Documents Processing areas should be appointed.

Systems Used to Finance Personnel and Payroll Costs

@

®

significant reductions in the number of staff will necessitate reshaping the
Organization, and

focal personnel are paid in local currency at varying rates of exchange.

Secratariat to the General Assembly, the Meeting of Consultation and the Permanent Council

@

improvements should be made in the process of issuing documents for
meetings, and

apparant anomalies exist in the classification grade of one Commitiee Secretary
and in the titles and grades of support staff.



CHAPTER 3

COMMENTS RELATING TO THE OPERATIONS OF
THE OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL

In past years, the Board has expressed four concerns about Office of inspector
General’s operations: audit coverage, staffing, independence, and follow-up on audit
recommendations. As discussed in chapter 2, the Office of Inspector General has continued
o0 increase its audit coverage of headquarters operations as recommended by the Board. In
addition, the Office of Inspector General has continued to be strengthened in the other three
areas.

Staffing

During 1995, a Deputy Inspector General with good auditing credentials was appointed
and a resolution passed the General Assembly in Montrouis, Haiti, which authorized one
additional staff member and funds for contract work. The additional staff member is
scheduled to report to the Office of Inspector General on June 15, 1996.

Independence

The Board previously reported that the Office of Inspector General did not have a
separate budget and that its reports were reviewed and approved by the Secretary General
before they were released. The Board reported that it believed that the Office of Inspector
General did not have sufficient independence to operate most effectively.

According to the Acting Inspector General, the Office of Inspector General now has
its own budget, which has been submitted to the Budget Committee without any major
changes. He said that he conducts work at the request of the Secretary General and also
schedules his own work. The Acting Inspector General has assured the Board that no one has
interfered with any audits that he has performed and that he is independent.

Audit Follow-u

The Acting Inspector General has assured the Board that the system established to
track actions on recommendations has been successful and that most of the Inspector
General’s recommendation have been implemented.

The Board commends the General Assembly, the Secretary General, and the Acting
Inspector General for the improvements made in the operations of this Office.

-13



CHAPTER 4

COMMENTSE RELATING TO THE INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD

In 1995 the IADB's revenues exceeded expenses by about $223,000. Also the IADB’s
unrestricted net assets (previously referred to as unrestricted fund balance) has grown from
a deficit of about $163,000 at December 31, 1993 to a surplus of about $154,000 at
December 31, 1995. The Board wishes to commend the leadership of the IADB for cutting
spending to a level commensurate with its funding.

The recent Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Number 1186, Accounting for
Contributions Received and Contributions Made, and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards Number 117, Financial Statements of Not-For-Profit Organizations, established
criteria for determining whether donated or contributed facilities and services should be
included in financial statements. If applied to IADB, the standards would require it to record
in-kind contributions for salaries of administrative personnel who are serving in the military
of Member States and for office facilities at the OAS building and the Inter-American Defense
College. The IADB believes that it does not have a clearly measurable basis for the amount
to be recorded and deems it impractical to measure the value of such services.

It should be noted that if IADB was required to record an amount for in-kind
contributions, a corresponding expense would also be recorded. Thus, the net effect on the
financial statements would be zero. The Board believes that IADB’s disclosure of this matter
in the footnotes to the financial statements is appropriate.



CHAPTER B

COMMENTS RELATING TO THE PENSION AND RETIREMENT FUND

During its audit, Ernst and Young noted that a significant number of manual
adjustments were required to accurately record liquidation and annuitant payments for the
year. To improve the efficiency and effectiveness of its current accounting and reporting
efforts, the Retirement and Pension Fund is scheduled to implement new financial accounting
software during 19986. As part of this implementation, the Board recommends that a user
friendly chart of accounts and trial balance be established to reduce the level of manual
adjustments required at year end.

£rnst and Young also noted that the Retirement and Pension Fund opened a money
market fund that was used to pay liquidation and annuitant payments. It also noted that bank
reconciliations were not prepared in a timely manner and supervisory review was not
consistently documented. Management told Emst & Young that the proper review was
performed. Given that significant amounts are disbursed from these accounts, the Board
recommends that timely and accurate bank reconciliations be prepared, and supervisory
review of these reconciliations be timely and consistently documented.
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the financial statements of the funds of the Organization of American States (the
Organization) as of, and for the biennium ended December 31, 1995, as listed in the
accompanying table of contents, and have issued our report {the Audit Report) thereon dated
April 17, 1996.

We conducied our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the
exiernal auditing requirements prescribed in Chapter VIl of the General Standards of the
Organization of American States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statemenis are free of material
misstatement.

Compiiance with the rules and regulations of the Organization (rules and regulations) is the
responsibility of the Organization's managemen!. As part of obtaining reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of
the Organization's compliance with provisions included in Chapters 1V, V, VI and VIl of the
General Standards. However, the objective of our audit of the financial statements was not to
provide an opinion on overall compliance with such provisions. Accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion.

We also tested certain expenditures of senior executives concerning executive compensation,
travel, official entertainment, contracting and consulting services, speaking honoraria and
gifts, and executive perquisites to determine compliance with the Organization's Staff Rules and
Chapters 1l and Vill of the General Standards.

The results of our tests indicate that with respect to the items tested, the Organization complied,
in all material respects, with the provisions referred to above. We noted certain immaterial
instances of noncompliance with the rules and regulations in the following areas: unliquidated
obligations, fixed assets, interest income related to CIAV Il, and budgetary appropriation
transfers. Our comments on certain of these matters have been reported to the Board of
External Auditors in separate correspondence dated April 17, 1996.

This report is intended solely for the information of the Board of External Auditors, the General
Secretariai, Permanent Council, and the General Assembly of the Qrganization. This restriction
is not intended to limit the distribution of this report, which is a matter of public record.

April 17, 1996

Ernst & Young LLP is a member of Emnst & Young International, Lid.
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SECTION 11

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

WITH

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






BESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The General Secretariat has prepared and is responsible for the integrity of the financial
data included in the accompanying financial statements. Except as described in note 7 of the
financial statements, the statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting
practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the Organization which include
the financially oriented General Standards to Govern the Qperations of the General Secretariat
and other provisions approved by the General Assembly.

The accounting practices utilized by the General Secretariat differ in certain respects
from generally accepted accounting principles customarily applied in the presentation of
financial statements. A description of the significant differences from generally accepted
accounting principles is set forth in Note 4 to the financial statements. The General
Secretariat maintains an accounting system and related controls to provide reasonable
assurance that financial records are reliable for preparing financial statements. The system
includes a program of internal audit to provide assurance that proper procedures and methods
of operations are used to implement plans, policies and directives of the General Secretariat.

In addition, the Board of External Auditors, which consists of three members elected
by the General Assembly, is authorized to audit all accounts, funds, and operations of the
Organization. The Board of External Auditors has engaged the services of the independent
accounting firm of Ernst & Young LLP to audit the financial statements. Their opinion on the
financial statements is based on auditing procedures which include a review of the internal
control structure and selected tests of transactions and records. These auditing procedures
are intended to provide a reasonable level of assurance that the financial statements are fairly
stated in all material respects. The Board periodically meets with the independent auditors,
officials of the General Secretariat, and internal auditors to review and evaluate accounting,
auditing and financial reporting activities and responsibilities. The Board of External Auditors,
the independent auditors as well as the internal auditors have unlimited access to all records
maintained by the General Secretariat.
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the combined financial statements of the funds of the Organization of
American Stales (the Organization) as of December 31, 1995 and for the biennium then
ended, lisied in the accompanying table of conients on page !I-7 herein. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Organization's management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the
external auditing requirements prescribed in Chapter VIl of the General Standards of the
Organization of American States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether the financial statementis are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that cur audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 4, the Organization of American States prepares its financial
statemenis on the basis of accounting practices prescribed by the Budgetary and
Financial Rules (which include the applicable financially-oriented General Standards
adopied by the General Assembly of the Organization of American States) which is a
comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles,

In our opinion, the financial statements listed in the accompanying table of contents
present fairly, in all material respects, the combined funds’ assets, liabilities and fund
balances for the funds of the Organization of American States referred to above at
December 31, 1995, and the changes in fund balances for the biennium then ended on the
basis of accounting described in Note 4.

Our audits have been made primarily for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
basic financial statements listed in the accompanying table of contents for the funds of
the Organization of American States referred to in the first paragraph of this report
iaken as a whole. The accompanying supplementary information in Schedules 1 through
20 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements. Such supplementary information has been subjected to the
procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion is
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements
mentioned above taken as a whols.

Ernst & Young e is a member of Ernst & Young international, Ltd.
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We have previously audited and expressed a qualified opinion for the effects of recording
certain obligations and related interfund income, as discussed in Note 7, on the financial
statements of the above funds of the Organization of American States for the biennium

ended December 31, 1993, summarized comparative information from which is
presenied herein.

April 17, 1996
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CRGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1993

QOrganization and Financial Statements

The General Secretariat is the central and permanent organ of the Organization
of Amarican States (OAS). To ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed
on the use of resources available to the OAS, the accounts of the OAS are maintained
in accordance with fund accounting principles. Separate accounts are maintained for
each fund. In the accompanying financial statements, the funds administered by the
General Secretariat are grouped in the following categories, according to their source
of financing and purpose:

Regular_Fund, financed mainly by the assessment of quota to the member
states and contributions from certain other OAS funds (see Note 4D). The purpose of
this fund is to provide the General Secretariat with general support as well as technical
supervision and administrative services to the programs;

Snecial Multilateral Funds, financed mainly by voluntary contributions of the
member states to support the programs adopted by the Councils and approved by the
General Assembly;

Specific funds and funds from special contributions (Specific Funds), financed
by grants or bequests to finance activities specified by the donor or legator, and any
other contributions by national or international, public or private entities, for carrying
out or strengthening specific activities or programs of the General Secretariat.

The financial position and changes in fund balances of the Regular and Special
Multilateral Funds are reflected in Exhibits | and 2 on a combined basis. In addition,
the financial position and changes in fund balances of the Specific Funds are included
as Exhibit 3 on a combined basis.

General and Operating Subfunds
Quota and voluntary pledge contributions and the corresponding costs incurred

in carrying out the budgetary activities of the funds are included in the accompanying
financial statements, where applicable, as general or operating subfunds activity.

a. Regular Fund
In addition to the activities of the General Secretariat, the following activities

are financed through budgetary appropriations of the Regular Fund and are included in
the financial statements of the Regular Fund:
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General Assembly

Meeting of Consultation of Ministers of Foreign Affairs
Spacial Consultation Committee on Security
Permanent Council of the OAS

Inter-American Council for Education, Sciance and Culture
Inter-American Economic and Social Council
Inter-American Commission of Human Rights
inter-American Nuclear Energy Commission
Inter-American Commission of Womaen

Inter-American Commitiee on Peaceful Settlemant
Inter-American Juridical Committee

Intaer-American Children’s Institute

Inter-Amaerican Statistical Institute

Intar-American Court on Human Rights

Inter-American Commission for Drug Abuse Control
Inter-Amarican Quincentennial

Inter-American Telecommunications Commission

o. Special Development Assistance Fund

The Special Development Assistance Fund (SDAF) was established in 1964 to
provide fraining, technical and other assistance in the economic and social affairs areas
to the member states. SDAF is under the supervision of the Inter-American Economic
and Social Council. The Twenty-Second Special Session of the General Assembly on
January 29, 1996 repealed the statutes of this fund through AG/RES.1 (XXII-E/96)
except for the sole purpose of executing obligations for projects approved before
December 31, 1995. After repealing the statutes of the FEMCIECC, CEC, CMP in the
Twenty-Second Special Session of the General Assembly, the Reserve Subfunds of the
respective funds were transferred to the Special Transition Fund (FET) as of January
29, 1996.

c. Special Multilateral Fund of the Inter-American Council for Edugation, Science
and Culture

The Special Multilateral Fund of the Inter-American Council for Education,
Science and Culture {FEMCIECC) was established in 1968 to promote relations and
mutual understanding between the peoples of the Americas through educational,
scientific and cultural cooperation and exchange among the member states.
FEMCIECC is under the supervision of the Inter-American Council for Education,
Science and Culture. The Twenty-Second Special Session of the General Assembly
on January 29, 1996 repealed the statutes of the Uniform Statute of this Special
Multilateral Fund through AG/RES.1 {XXH-E/96) except for the sole purpose of
executing obligations for projects approved before December 31, 1995. After
repealing the statutes of the FEMCIECC, CEC, CMP in the Twenty-Second Special
Session of the General Assembly, the Reserve Subfunds of the respective funds were
transferred to the Special Transition Fund (FET) as of January 29, 1996.

[1-20



d. Special Account for Culture

The Special Account for Culture {CEC) was established in 1971 to promote the
identification, restoration and preservation of the many manifestations of cultural
heritage of Latin America and the Caribbean.

CEC is under the supervision of the Inter-American Council for Education, Science and
Culture. The Twenty-Second Special Session of the General Assembly on January 29,
1996 repealed the statutes of this account through AG/RES.1 (XXII-Ef96) except for
the sole purpose of executing obligations for projects approved before December 31,
1995, Aifter repealing the statutes of the FEMCIECC, CEC, CMP in the Twenty-Second
Special Session of the General Assembly, the Reserve Subfunds of the respective
funds were transferred to the Special Transition Fund (FET) as of January 29, 1986.

g. Mar del Plata Account

The Mar de! Plata Account {(CMP) was established in 1972 as a regional effor{
to promote institutional development of the educational, scientific and technological
infrastructure in the member states by seeking both to expand it and to apply it to
practical problems of development. CMP is under the supervision of the
Inter-American Council for Education, Science and Culture. The Twenty-Second
Special Session of the General Assembly on January 29, 1996 repealed the statutes
of this account through AG/RES.1 {(XXII-E/986) except for the sole purpose of executing
obligations for projects approved before December 31, 1995. After repealing the
statutes of the FEMCIECC, CEC, CMP in the Twenty-Second Special Session of the
General Assembly, the Reserve Subfunds of the respective funds were transferred to
the Special Transition Fund (FET) as of January 29, 19986,

f. Qther Entities and Spegialized Qraanizations

The assets and liabilities at December 31, 1995 and 1993, and the related
income and expenses for the years then ended, of the following organizations, which
are subject to separate budgetary control and financial reporting, are not included
within the accompanying financial statements of the OAS:

Inter-American Defense Board *

Inter-American Indian Institute

inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture*®
Inter-American Library Simon Bolivar *
Inter-American Music Council *

Leo 5. Rowe Pan American Fund *

0OAS Medical Benefits Trust Fund *

OAS Retirement and Pension Fund *

Pan American Development Foundation *

Pan American Health Organization

Pan American Institute of Geography and History
Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund *

* Recipients of cash and/or in kind contributions or administrative services from the Regular Fund,
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Subfunds have been established and are financed under the following criteria:

Fund -\ 8 Subfund is a contingency reserve to provide for
tha contlnuous functtonmg of the regular activities of the General Secretariat.
In accordance with the General Standards to Govern the Operations of the
General Secretariat (General Standards), the excess of income over obligations
and expenditures of the General Subfund is to be added to the Working Capital
Subfund. To the extent that there is a Working Capital Subfund balance, excess
obligations and expenditures over income in the General Subfund is covered by
a transfer from the Working Capital Subfund. In addition, the General
Standards permit the temporary use of the Working Capital Subfund to finance
Regular Fund expenditures pending the receipt of anticipated income.

As of December 31, 1995, the balance of the General Subfund of $§129,169
is rastricted to finance unobligated appropriations.

SDAF - Reserve Subfund is a contingency reserve to provide for the continuous
functioning of the regular activities of the Operating Subfund. In accordance
with the statutes of the SDAF, interest earned and miscellaneous income are
added to the Reserve Subfund. After repealing the statutes of the SDAF in the
Twenty-Second Special Session of the General Assembly, the Reserve
Subfunds of the respective funds were transferred to the Special Transition
Fund (FET) as of January 29, 19986.

in order to adjust the Reserve Subfund to the maximum level of 25 percent of
the annual Program Budget as of December 31, 1995, $1,197,283 was
transferred from the Reserve Subfund to the Operating Subfund.

FEMCIECC, CEC, CMP - Reserve Subfund Pursuant to the Uniform Statutes of
FEMCIECC, CEC and CMP, approved by the General Assembly in 1988,
AG/RES. 919 (XVII-0/88), the Reserve Subfunds are contingency reserves to
provide for the continuous functioning of the regular activities of the Operating
Subfunds. The Reserve Subfunds are financed by the expired appropriations
of the corresponding Operating Subfunds, interest earned on their balance, and
other miscellaneous income. The Reserve Subfunds may not exceed 20% of the
biennium appropriation of their corresponding Operating Subfund. After
repealing the statutes of the FEMCIECC, CEC, CMP in the Twenty-Second
Special Session of the General Assembly, the Reserve Subfunds of the
respective funds were transferred to the Special Transition Fund (FET) as of
January 29, 1996.

In order to adjust the Reserve Subfund to the maximum level of 20% of the
biennium budget as of December 31, 1985, the following amounts were
transferred from the Reserve Subfunds to the Operating Subfunds: $1,196,662
for FEMCIECC, $248,360 for CMP, and $110,530 for CEC.
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Specific Funds (Exhibit 3)

These funds include contributions and grants from member states observers and
other interested parties for purposes of conducting special projects and activities.
These funds also include designated funds which have been segregated for specific
purposes and whose use is restricted through designation by the General Assembly or
the General Secretariat. The repeal of the voluntary funds mentioned above, do not
affect in any way the operation of the Specific Funds.

Biennium Financial Reporting

The OAS operates on a two-year (biennium) budgetary reporting period. As a
result, the aggregate funds appropriated for the biennium are divided into two reporting
periods: 1) the Secretary General approved budget representing that portion of
appropriations allocated to the first year of the biennium; and 2) appropriations
reserved for exgcution during the second year of the biennium.

To the extent that the appropriations allocated to the first year are not obligated
at the end of the first year, they are added to the second year's reserved balances and
the aggregate becomes available for obligation in that year. The preparation of
financial statements is based on this biennium cycle, with interim statements being
prepared at the end of the first year, the midpoint of the biennium. The statements
at the end of a bienniurm period include the cumulative financial information for the
two-year period. For comparative purposes, interim statements at the midpoint of the
biennium are compared to the most recent previous midpoint; statements at the end
of a biennium are compared to the most recent previous biennium.

The General Standards provide that appropriations are available to meet the
obligations incurred during the fiscal period for which they were approved. At the end
of a fiscal period, unobligated appropriations expire and are not available for future use,
unless otherwise approved by the General Assembly.

Accounting Principles

Except as described in Note 7 below, the accompanying financiai statements
have been prepared in accordance with the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the OAS
{Rules). The Rules provide the basis for the accounting principles applied in the
preparation of the financial statements. The Rules were adopted to meet budgetary
and other requirements of the OAS and, as such, result in accounting principles which
vary in certain material respects from generally accepted accounting principles. The
significant deviations from generally accepted accounting principles are as follows:

A. The General Secretariat deems it impractical to evaluate the collectibility of
assessed but uncollected quotas and voluntary pledges outstanding; therefore,
quotas and pledges are included in the financial statements of the various funds
only to the extent collected. Contributions from member states and from other
interestad parties for specific purposes are similarly recorded at the time of
collection.
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As described in Note 7, unliquidated obligations in certain funds include
amounts related to commitments resulting from offers made by the funds to
member states or other institutions to disburse monies for the procurement of
goods or services in futurg periods. Such amounts do not represent liabilities
or unrelated third party commiiments at the end of the respective periods.
They represent amounts anticipated to be expended in the subsequent year or
bignnium in the completion of a particular program or activity,

The OAS provides certain benefits to its employses which accrue to them
during periods of employment and are payable at various times during
employment or upon separation, whether voluntary or involuntary. Costs for
such employee benefits are recorded upon payment rather than as such
benafits accrue.

These expenditures are as follows:

19985 1993
Home travel $ 446,000 $ 476,000
Repatriation of family
and household goods upon
saparation 284,000 168,000
Separation Indemnity and
termination pay 1,889,000 2,416,000
Medical benefits
subsequent to separation $2.,006,000 $ 1,961,000
Total $4,725,000 $5,021,000

Unrecorded earned annual and special leave approximated $17,553,000 and
$8,193,000 at December 31, 1895 and 1993, respectively.

The General Assembly of the OAS adopts a consolidated program-budget which
includes the budgets for the Special Development Assistance Fund, the Special
Multilateral Fund of the Inter-American Council for Education, Science and Culture,
the Special Account for Culture and the Mar del Plata Account in addition to the
Regular Fund. In the consolidated budget, the amounts appropriated for
substantially all approved (career) personnel costs are included in the Regular
Fund’s budget. In addition, certain other administrative costs benefiting all funds
are included in the budget of the Regular Fund. In lieu of allocating these costs
to various funds on a services-rendered basis, the General Assembly has provided
that the other funds pay a contribution to the Regular Fund for administrative and
technical support. The amount of the contribution may not bear a direct
relationship to the actual cost of the services provided to those funds during the
period.
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E. The Combining Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balances of the Regular
Fund, FEMCIECC and CMP include certain amounts to be charged against future
appropriations. These expenditures are deferred as a means of budgetary
financing and not because of or in relation to benefits which may accrue to future
periods.

F. The Statements of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balances of the Regular and
consolidated Special Multilateral Funds do not include unexpended advances
issued in the performance of certain OAS programs. (See Note 8).

G. Contributions from member states and other interested parties in the form of use
of facilities and services are received by certain of the activities of the funds
administered by the General Secretariat. No amounts are recorded in the
accompanying financial statements relating to the use of such facilities or services
inasmuch as the General Secretariat deems their value inestimable.

Land, Buildings and Equipment

The General Secretariat follows the practice of charging to current fiscal period’s
appropriations the amount disbursed in acquiring real property, equipment, and works
of art and subsequently capitalizing such acquisitions in a separate Fixed Assets Fund.
This practice allows the OAS to continue to reflect those expenditures for fixed assets
against the amounts appropriated for such purposes while, at the same time,
presenting them as capitalized assets on the Combining Statement of Assets, Liabilities
and Fund Balances. Such assets acquired by the Regular Fund with associated
long-term debt are capitalized in the amount of the total cost including the long-term
debt. That pertion of the Regular Fund's purchases not financed by fong-term debt is
included in investment in land, buildings and eguipment.

The associated debt is then amortized against current and future vears’
appropriations ($703,000 in 1295 and $1,115,000 in 1993} to provide for current
mortgage paymenis. (See Note 11).

Land, buildings and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The composition of fixed assets at
December 31, was as follows:
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December 31

Degreciation Basis 1985 1993

Land (Note 11} - not depreciated % 5,491,305 $ 5,481,305
Buildings (Note 11) - 50 years 28,001,759 26,943,549
Vahicles - b years 1,696,382 1,729,182
Furniture and equipment - 10 vears 7,301,859 7,040,961
Tec?mical machinery and - 10 vears 6,350,107 4,228,825
equipment
Worles of art - not depreciated 1.828.817 1.388.762
50,670,329 46,822,584
Less:accumulated depreciation {(17.483.689) (17.080,493)
Book value as of December 31 $33,186,660 $29,732,091

Only those assets under direct control of the General Secretariat at its
headquarters, its offices in the member states and certain assets within the missions
are included in the financial statements. Acquisitions on behalf of OAS supported
projects in the member states are recorded for the area of Economic and Social Affairs.
Equipment and/or scientific materials provided to projects in the CIECC area are treated
as donations at the time of delivery and are not reflected in the financial statements.

Equity_in QAS Treasury Fund

All U.S, dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds
of the OAS are consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. The Regular Fund, the
Special Multilateral Funds, and the Specific Funds maintain an equity to the extent of
their cash balances retained therein. The Treasury Fund is administered by the General
Secretariat and amounts not immediately required for operations are invested. Subject
to certain conditions, income earned by the Treasury Fund is added to the equities of
the various funds in proportion to their equity balances.

The composition of the OAS Treasury Fund at the end of the corresponding
periods is as follows:
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1995 1993

Demand and time deposits, net of $3,065,000
and $3,864,000 drafis not presented for
payment at December 31, 1985 and 1993,

respectively $8,418,000 $18,864,000
‘ QOvernight repurchase agreements 904,000 7,282,000
}United States Treasury Notes at amortized cost
(approximatg market value of $76,322,000 and
| $72,730,000\at December 31, 1995 and 1993

respectively ! 74,400,000 68,300,000
L)

Accrued interest receivable 1,386,000 1,135,000

$85,108,000 $96,581,000

tess Equity of:

Retirement and Pension Fund $ 200,000

Trust Funds {Rowe, Health Insurance) 379,000

Add:

Local Currency at OAS National Offices 480,000

Petty Cash and Cash in Transit 39,000

Equity in Exhibits | and Ill $85,048,000

It is the intention of the General Secretariat to hold investments to their maturity;

accordingly, no loss has been recognized in the accounts of the Treasury Fund attributable to
the excess of cost over market value at December 31, 1995.

7. Unobligated Appropriations and Unliguidated Obiigations

At its Twenty Second Extraordinary Session in January 1996, and within the
context of transition to CIDI, the General Assembly adopted resolution AG/RES. 1 (XXII-
E/96) which authorized the re-appropriation of $14 million of unobligated
appropriations in chapter 4 and 5 in the Regular Fund, and Voluntary Funds. The

r”‘
1\ Maturities of US Treasury Notes at December 31, 1995,
Ameortized Cost Approx. Market
Value
Current (1 year or less) $ 11,042,000 $ 11,063,000
1- 5 years 40,924,000 42,088,000
6 - 8 years 22,434,000 23,170,000
$ 74,400,000 $ 76,322,000

1-27



General Assembly authorized the Secretary General to incur obligations against these
appropriations until March 31, 1996 and expenditures until June 30, 1996,

In conjunction with the 1991 biennium closing, obligations totalling approximately
$16 million were recorded in the Regular and CIECC Funds which were not in
compliance with criteria set forth in the General Standards. As a result of this
departure from the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the Organization during 1891, the
biennium ended December 31, 1993 financial statements reflect misstatements
causing deobligations to be overstated by $4.3 million; obligations to be understated
by as much as $11.3 million; and, charges to the CIECC Funds for administrative and
technical support and corresponding Regular Fund income to be undersiated by as
much as $0.8 million.

Accountable Advances

In the performance of various activities, the administrators of the various funds
may deem it necessary or appropriate to advance funds for the conduct of a program
or a specific event prior to the actual occurrence of the expenses. In the opinion of
the administrators of the funds such action is necessary to assure the timely
performance of such activities. Recipients of advances are required to submit an
accounting or suitable supporting documentation for the resulting expenditures in a
form deemed adequats by the administrators of the funds and by the Department of
Financial Services. Advances of this nature are recorded as expenditures in the period
in which funds are advanced. Advances for which a subsequent accounting was
required at December 31, 1985 and 1993, were as follows:

December 31

1995 1993
Regular Fund $221,000 $150,000
Special Development Assistance Fund 87,000 35,000
Special Multilateral Fund of the Inter-American
Council for Education, Science & Culture 177,000 56,000
Special Account for Culture 5,000 5,000
Mar dsl Plata Account 13,000 9,000
$503,000 $255,000
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g. Contributions_to Specific Funds

Contributor

Members:
Argentina
Belize
Bolivia
Brazil
Canada
Chile
Colombia
Costa Rica
Pom. Rep.
Ecuador
El Salvador
Guatemala
Haiti
Honduras
Mexico
Nicaragua
Panama
Paraguay
Peru

St. Lucia

Trinidad & Tobago

Contributions to Specific Funds during the biennium ended December 31, 1985
as refiected in Exhibit 3 of the accompanying financial statements were as follows:

United States 25,071,500

Uruguay
Venezuela

Observers:

European E.C.

Germany
italy

Finland
Netherlands
Spain

Japan
Russia

Non Member States:

Australia
Denmark
Norway
Sweden

Caribbean Dev. Bank
C.A. Bank for Econ, Int.

United Nations

World Bank
Others

REGW AR FUND SDAF FEMCIECC CEC CMP TOTAL
$ 277,021 $2,048,638 $ 716,450 $ 120,404 $ 3,162,613
26,608 26,608
55,001 93 55,094
470,333 2,508,646 6,000 2,984,879
723,348 723,348
65,000 360,000 $ 150,000 575,000
109,056 162,137 271,193
35,701 35,701
476 476
46,041 46,041
4,009 209,084 213,083
59,420 212,013 271,433
361,653 361,653
49,466 208,879 258,345
20,000 1,067,098 1,052,212 2,138,310
36,007 63,500 98,507
65,130 895,200 75,179 1,035,508
94,666 94,668
22,717 22,717
12,270 12,270
1,657 1,857
1,760,184 150,000 26,961,684

53,7556 406,344 480,089
86,445 365,713 58,297 82,785 603,240
1,218,788 519,392 1,738,180
29,490 895,892 925,482
289,873 288,873

460,789 460,788

247,331 1,125 248,458
140,998 140,998
600,000 600,000
1,500 1,500
3,579 3,678
4,960 4,960
7.500 7,500
48,985 49,985
2,650 2,550

30,000 30,000

218,132 920,608 1,500 1,140,240
200,000 200,000

1,310,859 591.694 21,433 3,338 1,827,325

$31,557,586 $12,778,526 $ 3,446,616

$ 211,636 §$ 213,189 3$48.207,653
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10,

11.

12.

13.

Tax Reimbursements

Tax reimbursements represent amounts assessed or to be assessed to certain
member states for reimbursements made to certain employees of the General
Secrefariat for income taxes paid to the respective member state.

Long-term Debt

l.ong-term debt was incurred solely by the Regular Fund under the following
terms and conditions:

A, First Mortaage with Aetna Life Insurance Company {secured by the General
Secretariat Building - 1889 F St.

Principal amount at

Dacember 31, 1895 $9,954,671
Repayment terms 25 vyears, due in monthly instaliments
through September 2004.
Annual interest rate $.375%
Interest expense during
1994/18985 $2,001,656
Amortization of principal
during 1994/1995 $1,344,000
Principal balance,
December 31, 1983 $11,298,594

Principal payments due for the next five years are as follows:
1996, $772,159; 1997, $847,741; 19298, $930,723; 1999, $1,021,827;
2000, $1,121,849.

Leases
The General Secretariatleases certain facilities and equipment. Rental expense
for such leases was approximately $1,798,000 and $1,278,000 for the biennium

ended December 31, 1995 and 1993, respectively. Aggregate rentals subsequent to
December 31, 1995 are not significant.

Retirement Plans

All qualified employees of the General Secretariat are participants in either the
Retirement and Pension Plan or the Provident Plan. The plans are funded by the
General Secretariat, other participating agencies and emplayee contributions at fixed
percentages of salaries. Pension expense aggregated approximately $13,416,000 in
199471995 and $10,571,000 in 1992/1993,
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14.

15.

As of December 31, 19956 accumulated plan benefits and plan net assets were as
follows:

Actuarial present vaiue of accumulated plan benefits:

Vested $ 185,825,000
Nonvested 16,242,000
Total at December 31, 1995 212,767,000
Net plan assets available for benefits $ 321,192,000

The weighted average assumed rate of return used in determining the actuarial
present value of accumuiated plan benefits was 8.5%.

In addition to the retirement plan described above, the General Secretariaf
provides a lifetime annuity 1o former Secretaries General and Assistant Secretaries
General with survival benefits for their spouses and has extended pension benefits to
certain former staff members with expired fixed term pensions. The cost of these
annuities, $562,000 in 1995 and $497,000 in 1993, is budgeted and recognized in
the year paid. The approximate present value of estimated future payments of $ 4
million, and $4.1 million at December 31, 1995 and December 31, 1993 respectively,
is reflected in the statement of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balance of the Regular
Fund.

Post Employment Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

In addition to providing pension benefits as described in Note 13 above, the
General Secretariat provides health care and life insurance benefits for retirees and
their dependents. The cost of health care is partially borne by the retirees. The cost
to the General Secretariat for its portion of the health care as well as the life insurance
is recognized when paid. For 1995 and 1993, those costs were $2,301,000 and
$2,209,000, respectively.

Foreign Currencies

Certain income and expense transactions during 1995 and 1893 were in
currencies other than United States dollars. These transactions have been translated
into United States dollar equivalents at rates of exchange in effect at the time of the
transactions. Foreign currency assets included in the accompanying financial
statements, consisting principaily of cash and time deposits {$480,200 and $243,000
as of December 31, 19856 and 1993, respectively) have been translated into United
States doliars at the then applicable rates of exchange. Certain of these currencies are
rastricted as to convertibility and, therefore, must be utilized in OAS activities.
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18.

17.

18.

From time to time during 1980’s, the Regular Fund effected temporary
borrowings from each of the Special Multilateral Funds pursuant to Permanent Council
authorizations. The borrowings were non-interest bearing with various terms of
repaymaent, except for interfund borrowings made during 1982 and 1983.

As of December 31, 1993, the Regular Fund owed the Special Multilateral
Funds a principal amount totaling $7,000,000, in addition to accrued interest payable
on these borrowings of $2,875,809. In November 1994, the resources available in
the Regular Fund permitted repayment of the outstanding balance of the interfund
loans. Repayments of $2,733,000 to SDAF, $2,459,000 to FEMCIECC, $206,000
to CEC, and $1,602,000 to CMP were made 1o cancel the outstanding principal
balance.

The General Assembly at its twenty-fourth regular session, through AG/RES.
12777194 (XXIV-0/94) decided that, in lieu of paying the interest accruad on interfund
borrowings in 1982 and 1983, the Regular Fund would utilize those resources as
partial financing of its 1995 budget.

The amount which was previously reflected as deferred interest income in the
Regular Fund at December 31, 1994, was recognized as income in 1995.

Staff Claims

There are a number of pending and threatened actions before the Administrative
Tribunal (Tribunal) in which it is alleged that the Secretary General has taken
administrative measures which have adversely affected the interest of the complaining
staff members.

On May 13, 1994 the Tribunal rendered Judgment No. 124 in favor of some
500 complaining staff members and former staff members related to non-application
of the cost-of-living provision of the salary policy adopted in 1983. The Judgment
gave the General Secretariat the option to pay the value of the indemnity in leave to
current staff members. Thus, in May 1995, the Secretariat, with the approval of the
Permanent Council, implemented a plan under which the indemnities were converted
into annual leave with an estimated value at December 31, 1995 of $7.7 million. The
leave is to be utilized or forfeited, if not used, within an established schedule. A
number of staff members have filed hearing requests objecting to the schedule and the
mandatory use provisions of the plan.

in the opinion of management, staff claims pending or otherwise threatened will

not result in a material adverse financial effect on the financial condition of the General
Secretariat.

Contingencies

There are several cases pending in the labor courts of Brazil brought by
individuals who allege to have been employees of the General Secretariat. So far, the
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19.

Brazilian Courts have handed down judgments in two cases awarding damages of
about $200,000 against the General Secretariat. These cases as well as similar ones
are now in various stages of appeal. Additionally there are several claims asserted by
others arising from the normal course of the Organization’s activities. In the opinion
of management, these cases and assertions will not resuit in a material adverse
financial effect on the financial condition of the General Secretariat.

Subsequent Events

On February 7, 1996 the Permanent Council of the Organization approved
CP/Res. 666 (1059/96) which authorized up to $3.2 million to implement an early
separation program. On March 15, 1996 the General Secretariat announced the
availability of a limited early separation program for career staff members who apply
before September 1, 1296. The program includes specific indemnizations beyond that
provided for in the Staff Rules.
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SECTION 1l

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF THE ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND AND

THE LEO §. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

WITH

REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND AND

LEO S. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

The Rowe Funds are trust funds established from monies made available by Dr,
Leo 8. Rowe, former Director General of the Pan American Union, the predecessor of
the General Secretariat, and are administered within the General Secretariat by special
committees.

Ernst & Young LLP has audited the accompanying financial statements of these
trust funds and their opinion on the statements of each fund is included in this report.

Howe Memoaorial Benefit Fund

The Fund is administered by the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund Committee. The
Commitiee is composed of five ex-officio members who are officers of the General
Secretariat.

Beginning in 1931, the assets of the Fund have been accumulated principally
by contributions received from Dr. Rowe during his lifetime and are held in trust to
provide certain benefits to staff members of the General Secretariat,

leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund

The Fund is administered by the Committee of the Leo S. Rowe Pan American
Fund. The Committee is composed of representatives from four QAS member states,
elected by representatives to the Permanent Council for a four year term and with the
Secretary General of the OAS as a permanent member.

The Fund was established in 1948 as a trust in accordance with the will of Dr.
Rowe. Its purpose is to provide loans to students from member states other than
rasidents and citizens of the United States and to make loans to OAS staff members
for educational purposes or in emergency situations.

Hi-3






ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1894
WITH
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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g@%mg'g-& y@i_jmﬁ IL;;P m 1225 éonnecﬁcut Avenue, N.W. @ Phone: 202 327 6000

Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Rowe Memorial
Benefit Fund (the Fund) as of December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the related statemeants
of activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial staiements are the
responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducied our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of matsrial misstatemsnt. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statemenis. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

in our opinion, the financiai statemenis referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund at December 31,
1995 and 1994, and the resulis of its operations and its cash flows for the years then
ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 1995 the Fund changed its
accounting policies related to financial statement display to conform with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 117.

April 12, 1996

Ernst & Young wLp is a member of Ernst & Young International, Lid.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund (Note 2)

Investments at cost (approximate market value of
$204,000 and $171,000 at December 31, 1995 and
1994, respeciively)

Total net assets

December 31,

1995

$ 20,080

184,129

$ 204,209

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

Income
Dividends and interest
Capital Gain distributions from mutual funds

Income from OAS Treasury Fund (Note 2)

Awards and other benefits (Note 1)
Change in net assets

Net assets, beginning of year
Net assets, end of year

See accompanying notes

il-9

1994

$ 18,901

171,593
$ 190,494

Year ended December 31,

1985

3 6,994
5,642

1,179
13,715

13,715
190,494
$ 204,209

1994

$ 6,170
2,002

965

9,137

600

8,537
181,957

$ 190,404



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,

1995 1994

Operating activities

Change in net assets $ 13,715 $ 8,537

Net cash provided by operating activities: 13,715 8,537
Investing activities

Increase in securities (12,536) (8,173)

Net cash used in investing activities: (12,536) (8,173)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1179 364

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, beginning of year 18,901 18,537

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, end of year $ 20,080 $ 18,901

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

Qrganization_and Finanging

The assets of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund (Fund) have been accumulated
principally from contributions received from Dr. Leo S. Rowe, a former Director General
of Pan American Union. These assets are held in trust to provide certain welfare
benefits for employees of the OAS. Administrative functions of the Fund are provided
without charge by the General Secretariat of the OAS. No amounts are recorded in the
accompanying financial statements relating to the use of services and facilities
provided to the Fund as no objective basis is available to measure the value of such
contributions.

During 1995, the Fund adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 117, (FAS 117) "Financial Statements of Not-For-Profit Organizations".
FAS 117 requires that the Fund provide a statement of cash flows (reporting the
change in cash and cash equivalents) in addition to the statement of financial position
and the statement of activity currently provided. FAS 117 also requires revenue,
expenses and net assets to be classified based on the existence or absence of donor
imposed restrictions. All revenue, expenses and net assests reported in the financial
statements of the Fund are unrestricted and relate to its single function of providing
benefits for employeess of the OAS.

In 1996, the Fund plans to adopt Financial Accounting Standard No. 124 (FAS
124), "Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-For-Profit Organizations™. FAS
124 will require the Fund to report investments in equity securities with readily
determinable fair values and all investments in debt securities at fair value with gains
and losses included in the statement of activity.

Equity in QAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various
funds of the OAS are consolidated in the Treasury Fund, Each fund administered by
the General Secretariat maintains an equity to the extent of its cash balance retained
therein. The Treasury Fund is administered by the General Secretariat and amounts
not immediately required for operations are invested. Income earned by the Treasury
Fund is added to the equity of each fund in proportion to its balance.

M-11



Invesiments

Investrments are presented in the financial statements in the aggregate of the
lower of cost or market value as determined by the latest available published or

brokers’ prices.

{in Thousands)
December 31, 1985

Gross Gross Net Approximate
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Gains Losses Gainsg Value
Mutual funds invested in
Equity and Fixed income
securities ¢ 184 20 0 20 $ 204
fin Thousands}
December 31, 1994
Gross Gross Net Approximate
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Gains Losses Gainsg Value
Mutual funds invested in
Equity and Fixed income
securities $172 5 {8) (1} $ 171
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LEO S. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1894
WITH
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Audiiors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Leo S. Rowe Pan
American Fund (the Fund) as of December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the related
statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
stalements are the responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statemenis are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund at December 31,
1995 and 1994, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then
ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 1995 the Fund changed its
accounting policies related to financial statement display to conform with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 117.

April 12, 1996

Ernst & Young wip is a member of Emnst & Young International, Ltd.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES
LEQ &. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31,
ASSETS 1995 1994

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund (Note 3) $ 316,852 3 228,091

Investments at cost (approximate market value at
December 31, 1995, and 1994, respectively shown
in parentheses)

Muitual funds invested in equity investments

($1,873,000 and $1,565,000) 1,674,045 1,505,484
Mutuai funds invested in fixed income securities
($4,402,000 and $4,178,000) 4,274,863 4,363,253
Allowance for Unrealized Loss (Note 6) - (125,737)
6,265,760 5,971,091
Loans receivable (Note 4)
Students
Installments not yet due 1,758,564 1,510,588
Installments past due 334,673 244 046
Allowance for uncollectible loans (197,774) (129,344)
1,895,463 1,625,290
Employees of the Organization of American States 564,634 507,007
2,450,097 2,132,297
Total Assets $ _8715857 $ 8,103,388
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Miscellaneous payables $ 68,074 $ 77,257
Net assets
Restricted (Note 1) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Unrestricted
Baiance before unrealized loss on investments 7,522,046 7,151,868
Pius unrealized gain (loss) on invesiments (Note 6) 125,737 _(125,737)
Total Unrestricted Net Assets 7,647,783 7,026,131
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 8715857 $ 8,103,388

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

LEO 5. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

Income
Dividend and interest income
Capital gains distributions from mutual funds

Miscellaneous income

Expenses

Increase in allowance for uncollectible
toans (Note 4)

investment management and
custodian fees

Administrative expenses (Note 5)

Other expenses

Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

Plus unrealized gain (loss) on investments (Note 6)

1995

$ 298,078
282,967

46,360

68,430

15,000
20,000

28,060
131,490
495,915
7,026,131

7,922,046
125,737

$ 7,647,783

See accompanying notes
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1994

$ 289,645
146,851

41,367
477,863

21,902

15,000
20,000

47,468
104,370
373,493

6,778,375

7,151,868
(125,737)

$ 7,026,131



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

LEDO 8. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLLOWS

Year ended Decamber 31,

1995
Operating activities
Change in net assets $ 495915
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in provision for uncollectible loans 68,430
Increase in loans to students (338,603)
Increase in loans to employees (47,627)
increase (decrease) in miscellaneous payable (9,183}
Net cash provided by {used in} operating activities: 168,932
Investing activities
increase in equity securities (168,561}
Decrease in fixed income securities 88,390
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (80,171)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 88,761
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, beginning of year 228,091
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, end of year $ 316,852

See accompanying notes
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$

256,578

1994

373,493

21,902

(425,775)

(41,638)
6,381

(65,637)

(7,041)

263,619

190,941

37,150

228,091



ORGARNIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES
LEO 8. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

Organization and Financing

The Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund (Fund}, a charitabie trust, was established
in 1948 by the Governing Board of the General Secretariat of the Pan American Union
{PAU) in accordance with the will of Dr, Leo S. Rowe, a former Director General of the
Pan American Union. The purpose of the Fund is to provide loans to students from
member states, who desire to study at colleges in the United States and to provide
education and emergency loans to employees of the OAS. Although the net assets
are not segregated, the net assets of the restricted net assets ($1,000,000) are
regarded as being comprised of investments held by the restricted net assets and, to
that extent, are not considered to be available for the purpose of granting loans.

During 1895, the Fund adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board
StatementNo. 117, (FAS 117) "Financial Statements of Not-For-Profit Organizations”.
FAS 117 requires that the Fund provide a statement of cash flows (reporting the
change in cash and cash equivalents) in addition to the statement of financial position
and the statement of activity currently provided. FAS 117 also requires revenue,
expenses and net assets to be classified based on the existence or absence of donor
imposed restrictions, Except for the assets of the restricted net assets, all revenue,
expenses and net assets reported in the financial statements of the Fund are
unrestricted and relate to its single function of providing loans to students from
member states and employees of the OAS.

in 19986, the Fund plans to adopt Financial Accounting Standard No. 124 (FAS
124), "Accounting for Certain investments Held by Not-For-Profit Organizations”. FAS
124 will require the Fund to report investmenis in equity securities with readily
determinable fair values and all investments in debt securities at fair value with gains
and losses inciuded in the statement of activity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. doliars availabie for use in carrying out the activities of the various
funds of the QOAS are consolidated in the Treasury Fund. Each fund administered by
the General Secretariat maintains an equity to the extent of its cash balance retained
therein. The Treasury Fund is administered by the General Secretariat and amounts
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not immediately required for operations are invested. income earned by the Treasury
Fund is added to the equity of each fund in proportion to its balance.

Loan Status

Non-interest bearing loans are granted to students, payable on various terms
not to exceed five years from the termination of the studies for which the loans are
granted. The Committee of the Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund (Committee} has
extended the repayment dates for certain loans.

The activity in the allowance for uncollectible loans was as follows:

1885 1594
Balance, beginning of year $ 129,344 $ 107,442
Provision for uncollectible loans 68,430 21,902
Balance, end of year $ 187,774 $ 129,344

In the opinion of the Committee, the allowance of $197,774 at December 31,
1995 is sufficient to provide for losses that may be incurred upon the ultimate
realization of these loans.

During 1995 and 1994 the Fund disbursed new student loans aggregating
approximately $625,000 and $641,000, respectively. The Fund received loan
repayments of approximately $286,000 and $215,000 in 1995 and 1994,
respectively.

New loans to employees for educational purposes or in emergency situations
aggregated $173,000 and $160,000 in 1995 and 1994 respectively. The Fund
received loan repayments of approximately $125,000 and $150,000 in 1995 and
1994 respectively. The interest rate on new employee loans granted in 1995 varied
from 6.5% to 8%. Interest rates on outstanding loans granted in 1994 varied from
6.5% to 7.5%.

Administrative Expenses

The Committee authorized payments of $20,000in both 1995 and 1994 to the
General Secretariat of the OAS as a reimbursement for a portion of costs incurred in
the administration of the Fund. The accompanying financial statements include
approximately $28,000 in other expenses related to the services of a contract
employee in 1995 ($27,000 in 1994}). No additional amounts are recorded in the
accompanying financial statements relating to the use of services and facilities
provided to the Fund by the General Secretariat as no objective basis is currently
available to measure the value of such contribution.
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Investments

Investments are presented in the financial statements in the aggregate of the
lower of cost or market value as determined by the latest available published or
brokers’ prices.

{in Thousands)
December 31, 1885

Gross Gross Net Approximate
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Gains Losses Gains Value
Mutual funds invested in
Fixed income securities $4,275 135 (8} 127 $4,402
Mutual funds invested in
Equity investments $1,674 199 - 189 $1.873
$5.949 334 81 326 $6,275
{ln Thousands}
December 31, 1994
Gross Gross Net Approximate
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Gains Losses Losses Value
Mutual funds invested in
Fixed income securities $4,363 8 {194} (188} $4,178
Mutual funds invested in
Equity investments $1,6056 1156 { 55} 60 $1,665
$5,868 123 {249] 126 $5,743
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Washington, 0.C. 20036

Report of independeni Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Inter-American
Defense Board (the Board) as of December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the related
statemenis of activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Board's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

in our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Inter-American Defense Board at December 31,
1995 and 1994, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then
ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Aprif 12, 1996

Ernst & Young LLe is a member of Ernst & Young internaticnal, Ltd,
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost:

Furniture and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

Funding received in advance (Note 4)
Accrued leave (Note 2)
Total current liabilities

Unrestricted net assets

Total lighilities and net assels

See accompanying notes
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December 31,

1995

137,138

102,082

239,220

625,182

508,728

116,454

365,674

6,376

195,118

201,494

164,180

355,674

1994

179,473

89,148

268,622

579,115

475,068

104,047

372,669

93,233

162,500
185,725

441,458

(68,789)

372,669



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

Revenue:

Funding received from the Organization
of American States (Note 4)

Interest and other income
Total revenue

Expenses:
Personnel
Building and maintenance
Eguipment and supplies
Other general and administrative costs
Travel
Depreciation
Documents

Contracts
Total expenses

Change in net assets

Unrestricted net assets, beginning of year
Unrestricted net assets, end of year

See accompanying notes
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Year ended December 31,

_ 1995

$ 2,392,100

$

32,248

2,424,348

1,693,338
77,287
118,638
103,075
43,770
41,080
28,059

96,262

2,201,379

222,969

(68,789)

164,180

$

$

1994

2,134,000

36,160

2,171,060

1,499,045
69,989
146,446
107,484
38,258
106,417
35,436

73,629

2,076,704

04,356

(163,145)

(68,789)



ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,

~ 1995 1994

Operating acftivities
Change in net assets $ 222969 $ 94,356
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net

cash provided by (used in ) operating activities:

Depreciation 41,050 106,417
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Prepaid expenses and other assets (12,933) (47,431)

Accounts payable (86,857) (1,016)

Accrued leave 9,393 23,449
Net cash provided by (used in ) operating activities m W
Investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment (63,457) (46,782)
Net cash used in investing activities (63,457) (46,782)
Financing activities

Repayments of funding received in advance (162,500) (162,500)
Net cash used in financing activities m m
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (42,335) (33,507)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 179,473 212,980
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 137,138 $ 179,473

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

Organization

The Inter-American Defense Board (the Board) was established on March 30,
1942 and was designated, by executive order, as a public international organization
on March 26, 1951. The Board is comprised of military oificers representing the
highest echelons of their nations’ defense establishments. Its mission is to maintain
the collective self-defense of the Western Hemisphere with peace and security as
primary objectives.

The Inter-American Defense College was established in 1962 as a
suborganization of the Board. lts primary goal is the preparation of future military and
civilian leaders for their role in hemispheric security.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation - The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the
accrual basis of accounting.

Adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 116and 117 - In 1995,
the IADE adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
1186, "Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made™ (FAS 118), and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 117, "Financial Statements of Not-
For-Profit Organizations” (FAS 117). FAS 116 established criteria to use in
determining whether donated or contributed facilities and services should be recorded
in the financial records. FAS 117 established broad standards for general purpose
external financial statements of not-for-profit organizations. The adoptions changed
certain presentation formats and disclosures in these financial statements. However,
there has been no change in the reported financial condition or results of operations
as a result of adopting FAS 116 and 117.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Board considers highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Depreciation - Depreciation expense is recognized using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful life of the assets. The useful iife of furniture and printing
equipment is estimated at ten years, and the estimated life of other squipment is five
years.

During 1993 and previously, the Board depreciated all equipment purchased prior to
1990 over ten years. In 1994, the Board accelerated its depreciation of these assets
in order to completsly depreciate them in accordance with the new depreciation policy.
The amount of additional depreciation recognized in 1994 due to this acceleration was
approximately $40,500.
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In-Kind Contributions - Significant contributions are received by the Board from the
Organization of American States (OAS) and member countries in the form of use of
facilities, services of military personnel and air transportation. No amounts are
recorded in the accompanying financial statements relating to the use of such facilities
or services since the Board deems it impractical to measure the value of such
contributions.

Emplovee benefits - The Board provides certain benefits to its employees, which accrue
to them during periods of employment and are payable upon separation. All employees
are entitled to accrued vacation; certain other employees receive terminal pay, merit
awards and special leave. The payments made during 1995 for these benefits

amounted to approximately $5,500. There were no such payments made during
1994,

Income taxes - The Board is a public international organization, and as such is exempt
from paying income tax.

Pension Plan

Substantially all of the employees of the Board participate in a defined
confributory benefit multi-employer pension plan administered by the Retirement and
Pension Committee of the Organization of American States (OAS). Contributions to
the Plan by the Board and employees are based on fixed percentages of annual
pensionable salaries. Pension expense approximated $213,000 and $209,000in 19985
and 1994, respectively.

Funding

The Board is an affiliated agency of the OAS, and as such receives a substantial
portion of its funding through OAS appropriations; however, the two organizations
maintain separate management structures.

Funding received from the OAS in the form of direct cash contributions
increased from $2,134,900 in 1994 10 $2,392,100 in 1995. The OAS has currently
appropriated $2,151,200 for 1996. The Board relies upon the OAS for funding
substantially all of its operating activities and is dependent upon the continued financial
support of the OAS,

During 1993, the OAS approved an advance of funding in the amount of
$325,000 so that the Board would be able to meet its financial obligations related to
a reorganization. During 1994, the Board repaid $162,5600 of this advance. The
remaining $162,500 was fully repaid as of April 1, 1995.

The headquarters of the Board is a building owned by the General Secretariat
of the OAS; therefore, expenditures incurred for building renovation and improvements
are not capitalized by the Board.

V-9






SECTION V
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FUND FOR THE INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION
OF SUPPORT AND VERIFICATION Il

WITH

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS






gﬁ%ﬁ?& ?@UNG &iﬁD g 1225 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. g Phone; 202 327 6000

Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying statements of assets, fiabilities and fund balance of the
Fund for the international Commission of Support and Verification ! of the Organization
of American States (the Fund), pursuant to the agreement between the Organization of
American States (the OAS) and the United States Depariment of State (the Agreement), as
of December 31, 1995 and 1993, and the related statements of activity and changes in
fund balance for the biennium ended December 31, 1995 and for the period from July 1,
1993 (inception) to December 31, 1993. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statemenis based on our audits.

We conducied our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includas examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financia! statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimales made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

As described in Note 2, the financial statements of the Fund have been prepared on the
basis of accounting practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the
Organization of American States (which inciude the applicable financially-oriented
General Standards adopted by the General Assembly of the OAS) which is a comprehensive
basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principies.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund at December 31, 1995 and 1993, and its
activity and its changes in fund balance for the biennium ended December 31, 1995, and
for the period from July 1, 1993 (inception) to December 31, 1993 on the basis of
accounting described in Note 2.

As explained in Note 1, the financial statements being presented are only for the fund
referred to above, which was established by the Organization of American States to
account for the assets, liabilities and fund balance and the support, revenues and
expenses of the Fund pursuant to the Agreement.

April 12, 1996

Ernst & Young LLP is a member of Ernst & Young International, Ltd.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES
INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF SUPPORT AND VERIFICATION II

STATEMENTS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

December 31

ASSETS ~ 1995 1993

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund $ 2725404 $ 3,303,141

Other assets 39,022 48 357
2,764,426 3,351,498

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

Unliquidated obligations 1,076,769 1,135,192
Accounts payable 69,380 85,347
Fund balance 1,618,277 2,130,959

$ 2,764,426 $ 3,351,498

See accompanying notes
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES
INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF SUPPORT AND VERIFICATION II

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITY AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

FROM INCEPTION (JULY 1, 1993) TO DECEMBER 31, 1995

Increases
Contributions
United States - State Department

European Economic Community (EEC)

Decreases
Obiligations and Expenditures
Operational Costs

Programming, Following & Verification

Tri-partisan Commission
Institutional Support

EEC - New Segovia

England - Purified water project
Germany Microprojects

Transfers
Transfer from(ic) CIAV | - U.S.
Transfer from(io) CIAV | - Others
Return to Donor - Germany

Fund balance at beginning of period

Fund balance at end of period

Biennium
ended

$ 6,350,000
988,504

7,338,504

1,719,582
3,349,085
227,858
1,685477
857,363
1,178
11,596

7,852,139

53
(62)

(47)

2,130,959

$ 1618277

See accompanying notes
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July 1, 1993

(Inception)

to Dec. 31, 1993

$

5,000,000

~ 5,000,000

691,163
1,661,469
87,498
391,890

2,832,020

63,412
(100,433)

(37,021)

$ 2,130,959

$

11,350,000
989,504

2,410,745
5,010,554
315,356
2,077,367
857,363
1,178
11,596

10,684,159

63,465
(100,495)
(38)
(37,068)

$ 1,618,277




ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF SUPPORT AND VERIFICATION Ii
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1893

Organization

On August 7, 1989, the five Central American Presidents met in Tela,
Honduras, and entered into what is commonly known as the Tela Agreement
{Agreement).

The Agreement provides for the demobilization and veluntary repatriation or
relocation into Nicaragua and third countries of members of the former Nicaraguan
Resistance and their families. The agreement also provided for the assistance to
persons involved in combat operation in the countries of the region at their voluntary
request. On September 6, 1989, the Tela agreement further established the
International Commission of Support and Verification (CIAV) to execute and fulfill the
objectives of the agreement. This commission is composed of the Secretaries General
of the United Nations (CIAV/UN) and of the Organization of American States
(CIAV/OAS).

In general, CIAV/UN is responsible for the activities conducted outside of
Nicaragua, whereas CIAV/OAS is responsible for activities within Nicaragua.

The Secretary General of the OAS established an OAS International Commission
of Support and Verification (CIAV 1) to account for the proceeds and disbursements
pursuant to CIAV’s activities. On December 31, 1293, CIAV | was closed. The
Secretary General of the QAS established an OAS International Commission of Support
and Verification !l (The Fund) to account for the on-going proceeds and disbursements
pursuant to CIAV's activities. All unexpended balances of CIAV | were transferred to
the Fund.

Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the OAS (Rules). The Rules provide the basis for
the accounting principles applied in the preparation of the financial statements. The
Rules were adopted to meet budgetary and other requirements of the OAS and, as
such, result in accounting principles which vary in certain material respects from
generally accepted accounting principles. The significant deviation from generally
accepted accounting principles is as follows:

Unliquidated obligations include amounts related to commitments resulting from
offers made by the Fund to vendors to disburse monies for the procurement of goods
or services in future periods. This amount does not represent liabilities to unrelated
third party commitments at December 31, 1995. it represents amounts anticipated to
be expended in the subsequent year in the completion of the project.
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Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of tha various
funds of the OAS are consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered
by the General Secretariat maintains an equity to the extent of its cash balance
retained therein. The OAS Treasury Fund is administered by the General Secretariat,
and amounts not immediately required for operations are invested. Subject to certain
conditions, income earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each
fund in proportion to its balance.

Funding

The Government of the United States has contributed to CIAV/OAS a total of
$11,3580,000 from the inception to December 31, 1995. In addition CIAV/OAS
received $9889,504 from the European Community Commission.

Status of the Commission
CIAV/OAS is headquartered in Managua, Nicaragua and its activities include a
number of stages: demobilization, repatriation and monitoring of guaranteed human

and civil rights, programs for development areas, and assistance to members of the
Resistance and their families.

Administrative Support

The General Secretariat of the OAS has provided non-reimbursable
administrative support in the form of personnel, communication and office space to
CIAV/QAS.
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Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying combined statement of assets, liabilities and fund
balance of the activities of the Unit for the Promotion of Democracy of the Organization
of American States (the Unit) as of December 31, 1995, and the related combined
statement of activity and changes in fund balance for the biennium then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Unit's management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statemenis are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financia! statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

As described in Note 2, the financial statements of the activities of the Unit have been
prepared on the basis of accounting practices prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial
Rules of the Organization of American States (which include the applicable financially-
oriented General Standards adopted by the General Assembly of the OAS) which is a
comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the Unit's assets, liabilities and fund balance at December 31, 1995, and the
activity and changes in fund balance for the biennium then ended on the basis of
accounting described in Note 2.

Our audit has been made primarily for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the basic
financial statements mentioned above for the Unit taken as a whole. The accompanying
supplementary information in Schedule 1 is presented for purpeses of additional
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Schedule 1 has been
subjected to the procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and in
our opinion is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statemenis mentioned above taken as a whole.

Ernst & Young iir is a member of Emst & Young International, Ltd,
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El FRNST& YOUNG LLP

As explained in Note 1, the financial statements being presented are only for the funds
referred to above, which was established by the Organization of American States to
account for the assets, liabilities and fund balance and the support, revenues and
expenses of activities of the Unit for the Promotion of Democracy.

April 12, 1986
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

UNIT FOR THE PROMOTION OF DEMOCRACY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998

Organization

In Resolution AG/RES.1063/80, the General Assembly requested the Secretary
General to establish within the General Secretariat a Unit for the Promotion of
Democracy. On October 15, 1990, the Secretary General by Executive Order 90-3
created the Unit for the Promotion of Democracy, assigning the following functions:

Develop standards and procedures for organizing electoral observation missions
Plan and coordinate electoral observer missions

Develop inventories and data banks of individuals and institutions specializing
in political studies on democratic systems and institutions as well as human and
material resources for carrying out missions, training, and other activities

Coordinate with other multilateral organizations, and governments and private
institutions activities, and missions concerned with democratic development

Plan, and coordinate courses, seminars, and training programs to facilitate
exchange of information and expertise in order to strengthen political
institutions and democratic procedures in member states

The Secretary General established various OAS funds {the Funds) to account
for the proceeds and disbursements pursuant to the activities coordinated by the Unit
for the Promotion of Democracy.

Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Budgetary and Financial Rules of the OAS (Rules). The Rules provide the basis for
the accounting principles applied in the preparation of the financial statements. The
Rules ware adopted to meet budgetary and other requirements of the OAS and, as
such, result in accounting principles which vary in certain material respects from
generally accepted accounting principles. The significant deviation from generally
accepted accounting principles is as follows:

Unliquidated obligations include amounts related to commitments resulting from
offers made by the Funds to vendors to disburse monies for the procurement of goods
or services in future periods. This amount does not represent liabilities to unrelated
third party commitments at December 31, 1295, It represents amounts anticipated to
be expended in the subsequent year in the completion of these projects.
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Eguity in OAS Treasury Fund

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various
funds of the QAS are consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered
by the General Secretariat maintains an equity to the extent of its cash balance
retained therein. The OAS Treasury Fund is administered by the General Secretariat,
and amounts not immediately required for operations are invested. Subject to certain
conditions, income earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each
fund in proportion to its balance.

Status of Missions

HAITE

At the Ad Hoc meeting of Ministers of Foreign Affairs held on October 2, 1991,
it was resolved to establish an QAS civilian mission entrusted to facilitate
reestablishment and strengthening of the democratic institutions in Haiti. To this end,
financing from Member States and Permanent Observers totaling $30,986,684 was
received from inception until December 31, 1995. In addition there were in-kind
contributions by other countries such as an aircraft by Argentina, Canada, Colombia,
Chile and Venezuela.

PERU

On May 18, 1992, the Praesident of Peru made a commitment to the OAS XXil
General Assembiy in Bahamas to hold elections for the Constituent Assembly. in
subsequent meetings held by the Ministers of Foreign Affairs, the General Secretariat
was requested to observe the electoral process leading to the elections which took
place on November 22, 1992, Subsequently the OAS participated in the observation
of municipal and constituent elactions, observation of a Constitutional Referendum and
continued to provide long term technical assistance for electoral systems improvement.
Total contributions to the mission since inception are $5,630,207, out of which the
United States contributed $4,510,000; Japan $1,000,000; E.E.C. $100,207 and
Argentina $20,000.

SURINAME

, The Special Mission to Suriname was established by agreement between the
General Secretariat of the Organization of American States and the Government of the
Republic of Suriname. The agreement specifies a presence of the mission in that
country for a period of two years during which it will assist in formalizing and
safeguarding a durable peace between the Government of Suriname, the Jungle
Commando and Tucajan Amazons, and in further strengthening the national institutions
within the framework of democratic institutions in Suriname. Upon completion of the
initial phase, the agreement was extended for another two years. The scope of the
project was expanded to include a number of activities all related to promotion of
peace and strenghtening of democracy.
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DEMOCRATIC INITIATIVES

The Unit of Democracy undertook a number of additional activities with the
contributions of member states and observer states, including the electoral observation
in Honduras, Venezuela, Dominican Republic and Panama. Among the largest
contributors was the United States Government who contributed a total of
$2,000,000 for the year ending December 31, 1995. Certain of these contributions
are restricted as to their use.

MINE CLEARING ASSISTANCE PROGRAM IN CENTRAL AMERICA

At its XXII Regular Session, the General Assembly asked the Secretary General
"to establish a Special Fund to accept contributions and pledges from those countries
that wish to cooperate in mine-clearing operations in Central America"[AG/RES.
T181{XXI1I-0/92].

At the meeting of the Commission on Central American Security held in San
Salvador, June 15-16, 1982, the Secretary General was asked to expand the mine
removal program from Nicaragua to include the other Central American nations, Costa
Rica, E! Salvador, Guatemala and Honduras. The Secretary General, in turn, sought
the assistance of the Inter-American Defense Board (IADB) in extending the mine
removal program. Such a program would be implemented by each nation’s army and,
in the case of Costa Rica, specialized personnel.

The Secretary General made appeals for funding to member countries, observer
countries, and members of the Parinership for Democracy and received affirmative
responses from the Governments of Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Peru and
Uruguay. Grant funds were additionally received from the Governments of Germany,
ltaly, France, Spain, Sweden, and the United States.

GUATEMALA

Pursuant to the request of the Government of Guatemala, on October 19, 1995
the General Secretariat agreed to send a Mission to Guatemala in order to witness the
two rounds of the electoral process to culminate in general elections on January 1996.
In addition, the Unit for the Promotion of Democracy agreed with the Government of
Guatemala to start a pilot project in Conflict Resolution in Guatemala, which
ancompasses prevention and resolution of community conflicts. Member and non-
iMiember contributions to missions totaled $727,519 from inception to date.

Staffing and Administrative Support

Appropriations for the approved personnel posts budgeted on a recurring basis
for the Unit for Promotion of Democracy, are financed by the Regular Fund of the
Organization. Financing for experis or observers in specific missions of the Unit are,
for the most part, financed by special contributions either for that mission or for
rissions of the Unit in general.
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RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND

The Retirement and Pension Fund of the Organization of American States is

administered by the Retirement and
committee was composed of:

Chairman:

Vice Chairman:

Member:

Alternate:

Member:

Alternate:

Secretary-Treasurer:
{not & member of the Committee)

Pension Commitiee. At December 31, 1995, the

Ambassador Lawrence Chewning Fabrega,
representing the Permanent Council

Ms, Joan E. Segerson, representing the Permanent
Council

Mr. Jose Luis Restrepo, representing the
Secretary General

Mr. Raul Sanguinetti, representing the Secretary
General

Mr. Alfonso Munévar, representing the
participants in the Plan

Mr. Juan Carlos Jordéan, representing the
participanis in the Plan

Mr. Luis M. Lizondo

The jurisdiction of the Board with respect to the external audit of the Fund was clarified
by the Department of Legal Affairs of the General Secretariat in 1976 at the request of the

Board.

The Board used the services of Ernst & Young LLP to audit the accounts and financial
statements of the Fund at December 31, 1995 and 1994 and for the years then ended. That
firm’s opinion on the statements is included in this report.
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@ EHN&?w& y@UN@ ii.? @ 1225 Connecticut Avenue, NW, 8 Phone; 202 327 6000

Washington, D.C. 20036

Report of independent Auditors

Board of External Auditors
Organization of American States

We have audited the accompanying slatemenis of net asseis available for participant
benefitls of the Retirement and Pension Fund of the General Secretariat of the
Organization of American States (the Fund) as of December 31, 1995 and 1894, and the
related statements of changes in net assets available for participant benefits for the
years then ended. These financial statemenis are the responsibility of the Fund's

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by managemeni, as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. We belleve that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial stalements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respecis, information regarding the Fund's net asseis available for participant benefits
at December 31, 1995, and ihe changes therein for the year then ended, and the
financial status of the Fund at December 31, 1994, and the changes therein for the year
then ended, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

April 17, 1996

Ernst & Young L is a member of Ernst & Young International, Ltd.
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ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
AVAILABLE FOR PARTICIPANT BENEFITS

ASSETS

investments, at market
Short Term Investments
U.8. Govi. And Agency Issues
Corporate Bonds
Municipal Bonds

Miscellaneous Bonds

Preferred Stock
Common Stock

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund

Money Market Account
Receivable from OAS

Receivables, principally accrued
dividends and interest

LIABILITIES

Participant accounts pending liquidation

Provident Plan participant accounts

Miscelianeous payables

Net assets available for participant

bensfits

December 31,

1995

$ 4,880,220
76,798,754
35,236,310

881,371
6,912,209

5,808

194,380,892
319,095,564

200,452

6,950,302
985,215

1,887,638

$329,219,171

5,012,087
1,823,270
283,528

8,019,785

$321,199,386

See accompanying notes
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1994

$ 10,161,224
54,905,974
36,148,526

855,596
8,309,636

147,797,795
258,178,751

2,574,476

2,071,338
$ 262,824,565

Phieiivetiuiv Moot Bl

1,669,496
1,122,214

130,421
2,922 131

$ 250,002,434




ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

AVAILABLE FOR PARTICIPANT BENEFITS

Investment income

Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation)
in value of investments

Net realized gains on sale of investments

Interest
Dividends

Less investment expenses

Contributions
Institutions

Participants

Increase

Payments to pensioners

Liquidations paid to participants
(or their beneficiaries)

Interest credited to Provident Plan accounts

Administrative expenses
Decrease
Net increase (decrease)
Net assets available for participant benefits:
Beginning of year

End of year

Year ended December 31,

1995

$ 41,156,779

13,187,978
9,048,469
3,613,931

67,007,157

494 393

66,512,764

8,199,673
4,123,069

12,322,742
78,835,506

2,141,385

14,703,804
173,397

17,018,596

519,958

17,538,554
61,296,952

258,902,434

$321,199,386

See accompanying notes
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1904

$ (17,467,262)

7,885,760
8,108,394
3,237 480

1,764,372
418,871

1,345,501

7,828,394
4,354,936

12,183,330

13,528,831

1,983,314

13,806,171
42,035

15,831,520
413,594

16,245,114

(2,716,283)

262,618,717

$259,902 434




ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

Descripiion of plans

The activity of the Organization of American States Retirement and Pension
Fund includes both the Retirement and Pension Plan {Plan} and the Provident Plan. The
following brief description of the Plan and the Provident Plan is provided for general
information purposes only. The Plan documents should be consulted for detailed
information.

General - The Plan is a contributory plan maintained for the benefit of all staff members
of the Organization of American States (0AS) and other affiliated agencies.
Compulsory contributions are shared 2/3 by the institution and 1/3 by the staff
member.

The Provident Plan is also a contributory plan established for the benefit of certain
contracted employees. Contributions by the employer and the participant are made in
equal amounts, and the balances in the accounts are fully vested in the name of the
participants. The total of the accumulated funds in the Provident Plan participants’
accounts may only be withdrawn at the time of death, transfer to the Plan, or
separation.

Benefits - Amounts included in participants’ Plan accounts may only be withdrawn at
the time of death or separation. Should participants in the Plan resign, they are
entitled to receive the amount of their personal credits {(contributions plus interest) and
a percentage of the institutional credit {employer’s contributions plus interest) based
upon the vesting provisions of the Plan.

The wvesting provisions provide that participants with less than four years of
participation receive, in addition to 100% of their persona! credits, 35% of the
institutional credit. Participants with four years of participation receive 40% of the
institutional credit. Participants receive an additional 20% of the institutional credit
for each additional year in excess of four. They are fully vested in their institutional
credits after seven years of participation.

Minimum conditions for retirement are 55 years of age and 15 years of participation
in the Plan. Upon retiring, participants in the Plan are entitied to pensions payable for
life. Participants who joined the Plan before January 1, 1982, may elect, instead of
the preceding benefit, a life annuity based on the total sum standing to their credit in
their accounts. Alternatively, at their request, the Committee has the power to
substitute some other form of benefit of equivalent value.

The Plan provides for minimum pension benefits. The minimum life pension for a
participant at age sixty-five, with not less than fifteen years of participation in the Plan,
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is an annual amount equal to 2% of the average annual pensionable remuneration for
the thirty-six consecutive months of highest pensionable remuneration within the last
five years of remunerated participation, multiplied by the number of years of
participation up to a maximum of thirty, and 1 2/3% additional for every year of
participation in excess of thirty but no more than forty. The same method is used to
determine the amount of the voluntary retirement pension due to participants who
elect that form of retirement which is applicable to participants fifty-five years of age
or older but less than sixty-five whose years of participation and age, when added,
total not less than eighty-five. Certain reductions are made for retirement at an age

_ less than sixty or participation of less than thirty years. Cost-of-living adjustments to

pensions are contemplated in the Plan.

Death benefits - Upon death of a pensioner {or a participant with no less than five
years of participation who dies while in active service), the pensioner’s surviving
spouse, and minor or disabled children, are entitled to a pension, as defined in the Plan.
When an active participant dies with less than five years of participation, the surviving
spouse and the minor or disabled children, if any, receive the total of the accumulated
funds in the participant’s account. Also, for a participant who dies while in active
service with no surviving spouse or children, the Plan authorizes payment of the
respective personal credit to the designated beneficiaries.

Disability benefits - Participants with five or more years of participation in the Plan,
whose services are terminated because of physical or mental disability receive annual
disability benefits, in the form of a life pension, as defined in the Plan. Participants
who have less than five years of participation receive the total of the accumulated
funds in their accounts. A participant who joined the Plan before January 1, 1982
may elect to be covered instead by alternative provisions on disability retirement
defined in the Plan.

Income tax status of the Fund

As an international organization, the OAS is exempt from U.S. Federal income
taxes and such exemption applies to the Retirement and Pension Fund of the General
Secretariat of the OAS.

Funding_policy

The plans are funded by the General Secretariat, other affiliated agencies and
compulsory participants’ contributions at fixed percentages of annual pensionabla
remuneration. A portion of the income earned on the Retirement and Pension Fund’s
invastments is allocated semi-annually to Provident and Plan participants’ accounts at
rates determined by the Retirement and Pension Committee. The remaining portion,
if any, is retained in the Plan’s General Reserve for administrative expenses and to
ensure continued Plan stability. Interest credited to participants’ accounts was 4.5%
and 19.77% in 1994 and 1995, respectively. Participants accumulated contributions
were $68,800,000 and $82,500,000 at December 31, 1994 and 1995, respectively,
including interest credited at rates determined by the Committee, compounded semi-
annually.

VII-10



4, Investments

The Fund’s investment portfolio is managed by the State Street Bank of Boston,
The Northern Trust Company of Chicago, and Wells Fargo Institutional Trust Company
of San Francisco, within the investment policy guidelines established by the Retirement
and Pension Committee. The Committee also retains the firm Buck Consultants
{Pension Fund Services) as financial advisors.

The State Street Bank manages the domestic equity and bond portfolios. The
Northern Trust Company manages the short-term investment portfolio. The Wells
Fargo Institutional Trust Company manages and acts as custodian of the international
equity portfolio. The Northern Trusi Company is the custodian of all remaining
investments of the Fund, except for the funds in the Money Market account with
Merrill Lynch and the Treasury Account of the General Secretariat of the OAS.

Buck Consultants also performs the monitoring of the investment managers and
investment returns to assure compliance with the Committee’s established policies.
Quarterly reports are presented by Buck Consuitants to the Committee.

The Plan has an investment in EAFE (excluding Japan) Equity Index Fund in the
amount of $25,133,577, which represents more than 5% of the Net Plan Assets. This
fund invests in an index composed of assets of companies located in fifteen countries.

The classification of investments in terms of portfolios and financial instruments
allows the matrix presentation that follows:

1995

DOMESTIC INTL.

FINANCIAL CATEGORIES SHORT TERM FIXED TERM EQUITIES EQUITY TOTAL
SHORT TERM $ 843,900 $ 3,773,343 $ 262,977 $ 4,880,220
INVESTMENTS
U.S.GOVERNMENT AND
AGENCY ISSUES 20,617,683 56,185,171 76,728,754
CORPORATE BONDS 15,664,284 19,872,026 35,236,310
MUNICIFAL BONDS 881,371 881,371
MISCELLANEOUS BONDS 6,912,209 6,812,209
PREFERRED STOCK 5,808 5,808
COMMON STOCK 147,798,370 $46,584,522 194,380,892
TOTAL $37,125,767 $87,320,120 $148,065,155 $46,5684,522 $319,095,564
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PORTFOLIOS 1994

FINANCIAL CATEGORIES SHORT TERM
SHORY TERM $ 3,180,300
INVESTMENTS
LS. GOVERNMENT AND
AGENCY ISSUES 17,160,681
CORPORATE BONDS 11,899,681

MUNICIPAL BONDS
MISCELLANECUS BONDS 1,663,349
COMMON STOCK

LDOMESTIC INTL,

FIXED TERM EQUITIES EQUITY TOTAL
$ 6,073,928 $ 906,996 $ 10,161,224
37,755,383 54,905,874
24,248,845 36,148,526
855,694 865,686
8,766,287 8,309,636
119,408,346 $28,388,449 147,797,795

TOTAL $33,783,921

$75,6900,039 $120,315,342 $28,389,449 $258,178,751

These tables facilitate the understanding of the composition and nature of the investment
structure of the Fund. Also, the listing of investment assets in the Statement of Net Assets
available for Participant Benefits follows the classification by financial instruments in full
compliance with generally accepted accounting principlas.

5. Investment valuation

Common stocks and bonds are valued at fair market value measured by the
quoted price of the active market on which the security is traded as of the latest trade

date prior to year end.

Any asset not traded on an active market such as thinly traded issues are
valued by either obtaining a price from their issuer, a reputable private deaier, or from
pricing specialists. Quoted prices in active markets or prices otherwise determined are
provided by The Northern Trust Company. Investments for which fair values were
determined by means other than a quoted price in an active market and net apprecia-
tion {depreciation) for the years ended December 31, 1994 and 1895, are as follows:

United States Government and
Agency Obligations

Corporste bonds
Municipal bonds

Miscellaneous bonds

Common stocks

DECEMBER 31, 1994
Net DD et

Quoted Price on Otherwise

D d

Active Mark

$(5,571,081) $(5,5671,091)
{2,313,159) $ (96,235) (2,409,394}
{109,659 {109,659}
(467,385) {142,628) {610,013}
{432,333) {449,012} {881,345}
$(8,893,627) $(687,875) $(2,581,502)
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DECEMBER 31, 19956
Net Appreciation

Quoted Price on Otherwise
Active Market Determined Tot

United States Government and

Agency Obligations $ 6,573,955 - $ 6,573,955
Corporate bonds 2,805,890 5 110,886 2,916,676
Municipal bonds 72,109 -- 72,108
Miscellaneous bonds 898,802 31,451 930,253
Common Stock 42,573,014 1,278,749 43,851,763

$52,923,570 $ 1,421,186 $54.,344,756
6. Plan termination

If the Plan is terminated, every participant, regardless of length of participation,
is entitled to all the contributions credited to his or her account and the increment
thereon.

Except to correct any actuarial errors, no part of the contributions to the Fund
made by the General Secretariat of the OAS or any other affiliated institution, or of the
increment thereon, shall revert to the general funds of the institutions or be used for
any other purpose than the exclusive benefit of the participants or their beneficiaries.

7. Actuarial present value of accumulated plan banefits

Accumulated plan benefits are those future periodic payments, including lump-sum
distributions, that are attributable under the Plan’s provisions to the participants or
their beneficiaries. The actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits is
determined by the consulting actuaries, George B. Buck Consulting Actuaries, Inc.

The significant assumptions used in the valuation as of December 31, 1994, the
date of the most recent in-depth valuation, were {a) life expectancy of participants
{United Nations Mortality Tables - males 1990 table and female 1982 table); (b)
retirement assumptions {assumed 1.3% - 26.4% for ages 55-64 with 7 or more years
of participation or immediately if older than 64); {c) investment return {an assumed
annuat rate of return of 8.5%, of which 5.5% assumed credited semi-annually to
retirement accounts); (d) retirement benefit elections {the 1994 valuation assumed
20% of participants prior to January 1, 1982, and 100% of subsequent participants
elect pensions upon retirement with all such individuals commuting 1/3 of their
benefits, the remaining assumed to elect full commutation}; {e) cost-of-living
adjustments to pensions (the 1994 valuation assumes that all cost-of-living granted to
prospective pensioners will be funded directly by the Plan); {f} pensionable
remuneration increases of 5% in 1994 and thereafter; and (g) administrative expenses
of 0.4%.
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In addition, the 1994 study assumes that the participating population would
remain level at 800 with new entrants assumed to have the age characteristics of new
enirants since 1988, The foregoing actuarial assumptions are based on the
presumption that the Plan will continue. Were the Plan to terminate, different actuarial
assumptions and other factors might be applicable in determining the actuarial present
valug of accumulated plan bensfits.

The actuarial present value of accumulated Plan benefits, and benefit information
for December 31, 1993, 1994 and 1985 are shown in the following table:

DECEMBER 31

1883 1994 1995
(US $1,000)

ACTUARIAL PRESENT VALUE OF
ACCUMULATED PLAN BENEFITS
Vested Benefits
Participants $161,130 $1486,212 $162,148
Pensioners 29, 558 33,465 33,677
Total vesied benefits 190,686 179,677 195,825
Mon vested benefits 3.928 15,271 16,942
Total actuarial prasent value
of accumulated plan benefits $ 194,614 $ 194,948 $ 212,767

The reconciliation shown below sets forth the reasons for the increase in the total
actuarial present value of accumulated Plan benefits between December 31, 1284 and
December 31, 1985

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 21

1994 19956
{US $1,000)

Total actuarial present value of
accumulated Plan benefits at
beginning of the vear $ 194,614 $ 194,848
Increase {decrease} atiribuiable to:
Interest earned on accumulated Plan
benefits 17,515 16,571
Benefits paid (15,789} (16,512)
Benefits accumulated 2,679 17,760
Assumption changes {3.971) -
Total actuarial present value of
Acecumulated Plan benefits at end of
the vear $ 194,948 $ 212,767
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Equity in the OAS Treasury Fund

All United States dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the
various funds of the General Secretariat of the OAS are consolidated in the Treasury
Fund, in which the Retirement and Pension Fund maintains an equity to the extent of
its cash balance retained therein. The Treasury Fund is administered by the General
Secretariat. Amounts not immediately required for operations are invested by the
Treasury Fund and income earned thereon is added to the equity of the Retirement and
Pension Fund in proportion to its equity balance.

Money Market Account

In January 1395, the Retirement and Pension Committee authorized the establishment
of a system to maintain and monitor contributions and pension expenses independent
from the OAS. In May 1995, the Retirement and Pension Fund opened an operational
Money Market account with Merrill Lynch from which liguidation and annuitant
payments are made. This account is considered to be part of the investment portfolio
maintained by the Fund and is included as part of cash and cash equivalents when
calculating the investment allocation in accordance with the investment policy
guidelines established by the Retirement and Pension Committee.
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